No. 13-110130-A

CAROLG. GREEN CLERK OF APPELLATE COURTS

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

> STATE OF KANSAS Plaintiff- Appellant

> > VS.

MILES E. THEURER Defendant- Appellee

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Appeal from the District Court of Riley County, Kansas Honorable John F. Bosch, Judge District Court Case No. 12 CR 538

Approved

OCT 15 2013

Attorney General of Kansas BYNC S. Ct. Rule 6.10 James W. Garrison #23545 Assistant Riley County Attorney 105 Courthouse Plaza Manhattan, KS 66502 (785) 537-6390

Attorney for Appellant

NATURE OF THE CASE

Pursuant to K.S.A. 2011 Supp. 21-6820(d), the State of Kansas appeals the district court's granting of a dispositional departure.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Issue. Whether the district court's dispositional departure was supported by the evidence in the record and constituted substantial and compelling reasons for a downward dispositional departure.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On the 14th day of April, 2012, just after 2:30 a.m., the Defendant and three passengers were on the way to Manhattan, Kansas after a night of drinking at a strip club in Junction City, Kansas. (R. II, 4). The Defendant was driving a 2003 Chevrolet Silverado thirty minutes after consuming his last beer. *Id.* The Defendant drove his truck into the westbound lane of Fort Riley Boulevard/K-18, heading eastbound just south of the Manhattan Airport, within Riley County, Kansas. (R. II, 3, 12). Ronnie Loggins,

who was driving eastbound in the appropriate lane, observed that the Defendant was in the wrong lane and attempted to get the Defendant's attention by flashing his vehicle's headlights behind the Defendant's vehicle. (R. II, 2, 12). Mr. Loggins caught up to the Defendant and attempted to get the truck to stop by waiving his arms outside of his window at the Defendant. *Id.* At the same time, a 2001 Buick LeSabre, driven by Elizabeth Young, with passenger, Michael Stanley, was traveling westbound in the appropriate lane in the area of 4200 block of Fort Riley Blvd/K-18. (R. II, 3, 12). The Defendant's vehicle struck Elizabeth Young's vehicle in a head on collision. *Id.* Elizabeth Young and Michael Stanley were killed as a result of the wreck. (R. II, 5). The Defendant's blood was tested within 3 hours of driving. (R. II, 4). The results of the blood test were 0.19 grams of ethyl alcohol per 100 milliliters of blood. (R. II, 4).

On the 17th day of September, 2012, the State filed a complaint alleging two counts of Involuntary Manslaughter while Driving Under the Influence of Alcohol, a severity level 4 person felony, in violation of K.S.A. 2011 Supp. 21-5405(a)(3) and K.S.A. 2011 Supp. 8-1567(a)(2) and two counts of Aggravated Battery, a severity level 5 person felony, in violation of K.S.A. 2011 Supp. 21-5413(b)(2)(A). (R. I, 7). On the 5th day of November, 2012, the Defendant waived his right to preliminary hearing and was bound over for district court. (R. I, 21). On the 5th day of May, 2013, the Defendant pled no contest to the two counts of Involuntary Manslaughter while Driving Under the Influence of Alcohol. (R. I, 80). Sentencing occurred on 17th day of June, 2013. *Id.* The Defendant provided the district court with an exhibit containing more than 100 letters from various individuals in a private or professional capacity. (R. IV).

During the sentencing hearing, after the victims' family spoke, the district court found it necessary to read out loud excerpts from several of the recommendation letters before citing the district court's reasons to dispositionally depart. (R. III, 43-50). The district court cited the Defendant's lack of criminal history, diabetic condition, supportive family, employment record, education record, rehabilitative efforts, speaking ability, good character, and letters of recommendation as reasons to grant a dispositional departure from the standard presumptive prison sentence to probation. (R. III, 43-50). The district court stated, "I don't believe any of the factors that I have mentioned, Mr. Theurer, standing alone, would justify a downward departure... but you are an exceptional person that I find to be atypical case. And in this case that, when considering all the facts of your life up to this point, I find that you should be granted a downward departure and that substantial and compelling reasons when considering in all their totality." (R. III, 56). On the 18th day of June, 2013, the State filed its notice of appeal pursuant to K.S.A. 21-6820(d). (R, I, 68).

ARGUMENTS AND AUTHORITIES

Issue. The district court's reasons as a whole were not substantial and compelling reasons justifying its dispositional departure from prison to probation.

Standard of Review

"(1) When the question is whether the record supported a sentencing judge's particular articulated reasons for departure, an appellate court's standard of review is substantial competent evidence; (2) when the question is whether a sentencing judge correctly concluded that particular mitigating factors constituted substantial and compelling reasons to depart in a particular case, including whether those mitigating factors outweighed any aggravating factors if such a balance was necessary, the appellate standard of review is abuse of discretion; (3) when the question is whether a particular mitigating or aggravating factor can ever, as a matter of law, be substantial and compelling in any case, the appellate standard of review

is de novo; and (4) when the challenge focuses on the extent of a durational departure, the appellate standard of review is abuse of discretion, measuring whether the departure is consistent with the purposes of the guidelines and proportionate to the crime severity and the defendant's criminal history." *State v. Spencer*, 291 Kan. 796, 807-08, 248 P.3d 256 (2011).

In any appeal from a judgment of conviction imposing a sentence that departs from the presumptive sentence prescribed by the sentencing grid for a crime, sentence review shall be limited to whether the sentencing court's findings of fact and reasons justifying a departure: (1) Are supported by the evidence in the record; and (2) constitute substantial and compelling reasons for departure. K.S.A. 21-6820(d).

The issue of whether departure factors are substantial and compelling is reviewed with no deference given to the sentencing court. *State v. Martin*, 285 Kan. 735, 175 P.3d 832 (2008); *State v. McKay*, 271 Kan. 725, 728, 26 P.3d 58 (2001) (citing *State v. Favela*, 259 Kan. 215, 233, 911 P.2d 792 [1996]).

Discussion

The district court did not apply the correct policy standards when considering whether there was substantial and compelling reasons to grant a dispositional departure. Additionally, the district courts reasons as a whole for departure were not substantial and compelling reasons to depart in this case.

a. <u>Intent and Purpose of Guidelines</u>

Before the district court made its findings it quoted K.S.A. 2011 Supp. 21-6601 by stating, "Legislative policy to be followed is to be liberally construed to the end that persons convicted of crimes shall be dealt with in accordance with individual characteristics, circumstances, needs and potentialities as revealed by case studies; that dangerous offenders be correctively treated in custody for long terms as needed; and that other offenders shall be dealt with by probation, suspended sentence, fined or assignment

to a community correctional service program whenever such disposition appears practicable and not detrimental to the needs of public safety and the welfare of the offender." (R. III, 42). However, the statute quoted by the district court first states, "K.S.A. 21-6601 through 21-6629, and amendments thereto, shall be liberally construed...." K.S.A. 21-6601. The departure statutes do not fall within that range of statutes. K.S.A. 2011 Supp. 21-6801 et seq. To the contrary, K.S.A. 21-6802(a)&(b) states,

- "(a) The sentencing guidelines and prosecuting standards, as contained in K.S.A. 21-6801 through 21-6824, and amendments thereto, *shall apply equally to all offenders* in all parts of the state.
- (b) The sentencing court may consider in all cases a range of alternatives with gradations of supervisory, supportive and custodial facilities at its disposal so as to permit a sentence appropriate for *each individual case*, consistent with these guidelines and the permitted dispositional and durational departures contained in K.S.A. 21-6801 through 21-6824, and amendments thereto." (Emphasis added.)

The difference between K.S.A. 21-6601 and K.S.A. 21-6802, is noteworthy because K.S.A. 21-6601 indicates a sentencing court is to liberally construe the sentence to accommodate the individual characteristics of the defendant when giving a sentence, but K.S.A. 21-6802 requires uniformity amongst offenders and indicates a court may consider alternatives for individual cases, not individual characteristics of a defendant.

When enacting the Kansas Sentencing Guidelines Act (KSGA), the legislature determined the standard presumptive sentences, indicated by the guidelines grid formulated according to the severity level of the crime of conviction and the criminal history score of the offender. *State v. Haney*, 34 Kan.App.2d 232, 234, 116 P.3d 747, 751 (2005). The sentence should be imposed by the sentencing court unless the court finds substantial and compelling reasons to depart. *Id*.

The mitigating factors for a sentencing court's consideration for downward departures are listed in K.S.A. 21-6815(c):

- "(1) Subject to the provisions of subsections (c)(3) and (e), the following nonexclusive list of mitigating factors may be considered in determining whether substantial and compelling reasons for a departure exist:
- (A) The victim was an aggressor or participant in the criminal conduct associated with the crime of conviction.
- (B) The offender played a minor or passive role in the crime or participated under circumstances of duress or compulsion. This factor may be considered when it is not sufficient as a complete defense.
- (C) The offender, because of physical or mental impairment, lacked substantial capacity for judgment when the offense was committed. The voluntary use of intoxicants, drugs or alcohol does not fall within the purview of this factor.
- (D) The defendant, or the defendant's children, suffered a continuing pattern of physical or sexual abuse by the victim of the offense and the offense is a response to that abuse.
- (E) The degree of harm or loss attributed to the current crime of conviction was significantly less than typical for such an offense."

None of the factors listed in K.S.A. 21-6815 apply in this case. The victim was not a participant. (R. II, 1-5). The Defendant played the only role in this offense. *Id.* The Defendant did not lack capacity for judgment when the offense was committed because the Defendant voluntarily consumed alcohol. *Id.* There was no evidence the Defendant suffered from any patterns of abuse. *Id.* The degree of harm was the most severe possible because two people were killed. *Id.* All of the cited factors the sentencing court relied upon to depart were non-statutory factors. (R. III). The State recognizes that sentencing courts may consider other non-statutory factors when imposing a departure sentence as long as there is evidence in the record to support such factors and the use of the factors would be consistent with the intent and purposes of the sentencing guidelines. *State v. Blackmon*, 285 Kan. 719, 721, 176 P.3d 160, 165 (2008);

State v. Tiffany, 267 Kan. 495, 506, 986 P.2d 1064 (1999); State v. Favela, 259 Kan. 215, 233–34, 911 P.2d 792, 804-05 (1996).

Further, the mitigating factors listed in K.S.A. 21-6815(c) do not address a defendant's individual characteristics outside the facts within the case itself. K.S.A. 21-6815(c). Rather, the mitigating factors address circumstances, behaviors, and facts within the case. *Id.* This is noteworthy because it is another example of the legislative intent of what a district court should consider when making its findings at sentencing regarding departures. The district court focused too much attention on the Defendant's individual characteristics outside the case and neglected the purpose behind the sentencing guidelines in this case where the Defendant's actions directly caused the deaths of two people.

b. The Reasons For Departure

The district court's cited reasons for departure were not substantial and compelling and did not justify a dispositional departure from the presumptive prison sentence in this case with two charges of Involuntary Manslaughter while DUI.

"[T]he sentencing judge shall impose the presumptive sentence provided by the sentencing guidelines unless the judge finds substantial and compelling reasons to impose a departure sentence. If the sentencing judge departs from the presumptive sentence, the judge shall state on the record at the time of sentencing the substantial and compelling reasons for the departure." K.S.A. 21-6815(a).

'Substantial' is defined as "real, not imagined, and of substance, not ephemeral." *State v. Hines*, 296 Kan. 608, 620, 294 P.3d 270, 278 (2013). 'Compelling' is defined as a factor that "must be one which forces the court, *by the facts of the case*, to abandon the

status quo and to venture beyond the sentence that it would ordinarily impose." *Id.* (emphasis added). Mitigating factors which may in one case justify departure may not in all cases justify departure. *Id.* (citing *State v. McKay*, 271 Kan. 725, 730, 26 P.3d 58 (2001)).

The district court indicated that each factor alone was not sufficient to reach substantial and compelling, but that collectively the factors were substantial and compelling reasons to depart. (R. III, 52-56). It is true that each factor standing alone need not be sufficient to justify the departure if the reasons taken collectively constitute a substantial and compelling basis for departure. *State v. Blackmon*, 285 Kan. at 725; *State v. Ussery*, 34 Kan.App.2d 250, 253, 116 P.3d 735, *rev. denied* (2005) (citing *State v. Minor*, 268 Kan. 292, 311, 997 P.2d 648 [2000]). Nevertheless, under the facts of this specific case, even as a whole, the reasons cited by the district court were not substantial and compelling and did not justify a departure.

Lack of Criminal History

The district court abused its discretion by concluding that the Defendant's lack of criminal history collectively constituted substantial and compelling reasons to depart in this case because a lack of criminal history does not overcome the fact that the Defendant killed two people as a result of driving a vehicle drunk. Additionally, as a matter of law, a defendant's lack of criminal history for the offense of Involuntary Manslaughter while DUI should not be a substantial and compelling reason in any case because the KSGA already factors a defendant's criminal history when assigning the presumption.

The Kansas Supreme Court held that the defendant's lack of criminal history, by itself, is not sufficient to justify a departure sentence, but it "could be considered in the

overall picture." *State v. Murphy*, 270 Kan. 804, 807, 19 P.3d 80 (2001) (abrogated on other grounds by *State v. Martin*, 285 Kan. at 747). The Defendant's lack of criminal history was not a substantial and compelling reason to depart, even collectively, given the underlying offenses, the indistinguishable facts involved in this case, and the purposes of the sentencing guidelines. Involuntary Manslaughter while DUI is an unintentional killing. K.S.A. 21-3405(a)(3). Yet, under the KSGA, it is a level four person felony with a prescribed presumptive prison sentence, even with a category "I" criminal history score. K.S.A. 21-6804. The facts of the case are nearly identical to all other cases charged under this offense in Kansas. (R, II, 1-5, 12). Simply put, the Defendant was drunk, driving a vehicle, and as a result two people were killed. *Id*.

The district court noted the State's argument that the Defendant's lack of criminal history should not be a substantial and compelling reason to depart, but responded, "But not all criminal history scores 'I's' are the same. There's absolutely nothing on Mr. Theurer's record. And a defendant's complete lack of criminal contacts can be considered in departing." (R. III, 52). But the district court's decision is misguided. The criminal history score does not signify that a defendant has never engaged in criminal behavior, but merely that he or she has never been caught and convicted. Thus, the lack of criminal history should not be a reason to depart as a matter of law.

Further, the Defendant's lack of criminal history should not have been a substantial and compelling reason to depart because the Defendant's lack of criminal history was already factored in by the sentencing grid, which assigned a presumptive prison box range of thirty-eight months to forty-three months. K.S.A. 21-6804. The legislative intent under this offense was that a defendant would be sentenced to prison,

even when that defendant stands before a sentencing court with no criminal history. *Id.*This court has stated, "[a] defendant's criminal history cannot be used as justification for a departure sentence when the sentencing guidelines have already taken the defendant's criminal history into account in determining the presumptive sentence within the grid."

State v. Richardson, 20 Kan.App.2d 932, Syl ¶ 2, 901 P.2d 1 (1995). The Kansas Supreme Court noted this argument by the State in Spencer, but did not "go the extra step" to address this argument because it had already found the sentencing court's finding of lack of criminal history as substantial and compelling reason to depart in a Jessica's Law case was unreasonable given the facts within that case. State v. Spencer, 291 Kan. at 817-18. The State contends a district court using lack of criminal history as a reason to depart in an Involuntary Manslaughter while DUI case is unreasonable because of the deaths of the victims in such cases.

The Defendant benefited from having a criminal history score of "I." Lack of criminal history when two people were killed under such an offense is not something that "forces the court, by the facts in the case, to abandon the status quo and venture beyond that it would ordinarily impose." Involuntary Manslaughter while DUI is an offense where the legislative intent was that defendants with no criminal history whatsoever should have to serve time in prison, even when it is an unintentional killing. K.S.A. 21-3405; K.S.A. 21-6804.

Further, under the facts in this case, the Defendant's lack of criminal history cannot overcome the fact that he received two Involuntary Manslaughter convictions. The fact that he had no prior criminal history simply cannot overcome the fact that two people are dead as a result of his actions. Thus, the district court gave weight to the

Defendant's lack of criminal history when it should not have or at the very least gave too much weight to the Defendant's lack of criminal history and neglected the intent and purposes of the sentencing guidelines. Even collectively with other reasons, a lack of criminal history should not have been substantial and compelling.

<u>Diagnosis of Diabetes</u>

The district court cited the Defendant's diagnosis of diabetes as a substantial and compelling reason to depart. (R. III, 53). This was improper under the facts in this case. Further, there was not substantially competent evidence to support the district court's reasons that the Defendant had poor health because of a diagnosis of type 1 diabetes. Additionally, the district court abused its discretion when it found that the Defendant's diagnosis of type 1 diabetes constituted a substantial and compelling reason to depart in this case because his diagnosis of type 1 diabetes would not have been a compelling concern in prison.

First, the statute makes it clear that physical and mental impairments are to be considered if they impact the offender's substantial capacity for judgment when the offense was committed. K.S.A. 21-6815(c)(1)(C). The Defendant's diabetes had no such impact. As such, it was an abuse of discretion for the court to rely on the Defendant's diabetes as a substantial and compelling reason for a departure. See *State v. Spencer*, 291 Kan. 796. (age of the defendant not a proper departure factor when it had nothing to do with the defendant's judgment or lack thereof at the time of the crimes). The mere fact that the Defendant has health issues has no impact on whether the punishment in this case fits the crimes he committed.

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