No. 13-110130-A

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

STATE OF KANSAS

Plaintiff - Appellant

V.

MILES E. THEURER

Defendant - Appellee

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

Appeal from the District Court of Riley County, Kansas Honorable John F. Bosch, Judge District Court Case No. 12-CR-538

> Pedro L. Irigonegaray, #08079 IRIGONEGARAY & ASSOCIATES 1535 S.W. 29th Street Topeka, KS 66611 (785) 267-6115 Attorney for Defendant - Appellee

No. 13-110130-A

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

STATE OF KANSAS

Plaintiff - Appellant

v.

MILES E. THEURER

Defendant – Appellee

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

NATURE OF THE CASE

Pursuant to K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 21-6820(d), the State of Kansas appeals the district court's granting of a downward dispositional sentencing departure.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Was the district court's decision to grant a downward dispositional sentencing departure based on substantial and compelling reasons and supported by substantial competent evidence of record?

FACTUAL STATEMENT

The defendant has no disagreements with the State's recitation of the relevant facts.

ARGUMENTS AND AUTHORITIES

The district court's decision to grant a downward dispositional sentencing departure was based on substantial and compelling reasons supported by substantial competent evidence of record, and therefore does not constitute an abuse of discretion.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standards of review for appeals involving sentence departures under the Kansas Sentencing Guidelines Act (hereinafter KSGA) were recently clarified by the Kansas Supreme Court.

(1) When the question is whether the record supported a sentencing judge's particular articulated reasons for departure, an appellate court's standard of review is substantial competent evidence; (2) when the question is whether a sentencing judge correctly concluded that particular mitigating factors constituted substantial and compelling reasons to depart in a particular case, including whether those mitigating factors outweighed any aggravating factors if such a balance was necessary, the appellate standard of review is abuse of discretion; (3) when the question is whether a particular mitigating or aggravating factor can ever, as a matter of law, be substantial and compelling in any case, the appellate standard of review is de novo; and (4) when the challenge focuses on the extent of a durational departure, the appellate standard of review is abuse of discretion, measuring whether the departure is consistent with the purposes of the guidelines and proportionate to the crime severity and the defendant's criminal history.

State v. Spencer, 291 Kan. 796, 807-08, 248 P.3d 256, 265 (2011) (emphasis added).

The State correctly sets out this standard of review, as well as the statutory provision that in appeals such as this the review is limited to whether the trial court's finding of facts and reasons justifying a departure are (1) supported by evidence in the record and (2) constitute substantial and compelling reasons for departure. K.S.A 2012 Supp. 21-6820(d).

However, the State also adds that the latter issue is reviewed "with no deference given to the sentencing court", citing *State v. Martin*, 285 Kan. 735, 175 P.3d 832 (2008),

and others. Brief of Appellant, at 4. The State appears to misread the decision in *State. v. Martin*, which in pertinent part held that the court "expressly reject[ed] any notion that a sentencing court's use of statutory factors for departure should be reviewed with great deference and that its use of nonstatutory factors for departure should be reviewed with stricter scrutiny." *Id.* at 747, 840. As indicated in the *State v. Spencer* decision, at 248 P.3d 270, the *Martin* decision reflects that the courts no longer give analytical weight to such a distinction. It is also true, however, as a practical matter, that to the extent that review is *de novo* when the issue is whether a particular factor can ever be substantial and compelling in any case, no deference is being given to the sentencing court. Likewise, in effect, some level of deference is being given to the trial court when the abuse of discretion standard is applied to the issue of whether the court correctly determined whether mitigating factors were substantial and compelling in the particular case.

DISCUSSION

The district court properly weighed mitigating factors intrinsic to the underlying principles of the KSGA when considering whether there were substantial and compelling reasons to grant a dispositional departure. The district court was clear, concise and deliberate in its findings of nonstatutory mitigating factors; the judge's explanations were exhaustive and clearly developed the process by which he arrived at the conclusion that he was compelled to depart in sentencing this defendant.

a. Intent and Purpose of Guidelines

The State contends that the trial judge erred in his declaration that:

Legislative policy to be followed is to be liberally construed to the end that persons convicted of crimes shall be dealt with in accordance with individual characteristics, circumstances, needs and potentialities as revealed by case studies; that dangerous offenders be correctively treated in custody for long

terms as needed; and that other offenders shall be dealt with by probation, suspended sentence, fined or assignment to a community correctional service program whenever such disposition appears practicable and not detrimental to the needs of the public safety and the welfare of the offender.

R. III, 42, substantially quoting K.S.A. 2011 Supp. 21-6601.

The State's technical contention is accurate: the departure statutes do not fall within the range of statutes to which the quoted language applies. K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 21-6601 - 6629 deal with "sentencing" generally. However, included within those sections is the provision (Jessica's Law) for sentencing certain sex offenders to mandatory 25 or 40-year sentences, which includes its own provision for departure. K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 21-6627. Does the State suggest that sex offenders who seek dispositional departures are entitled to have their application judged in light of a different set of general "sentencing" principles than what should be applied to departure applications by other offenders?

Moreover, the language of K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 21-6802(a)&(b) does not remove all discretion from the trial court to consider individual offender characteristics as the State suggests:

- (a) The sentencing guidelines and prosecuting standards, as contained in K.S.A. 21-6801 through 21-6824, and amendments thereto, shall apply equally to all offenders in all parts of the state.
- (b) The sentencing court may consider in all cases a range of alternatives with gradations of supervisory, supportive and custodial facilities at its disposal so as to permit a sentence appropriate for each individual case, consistent with these guidelines and the permitted dispositional and durational departures contained in K.S.A. 21-6801 through 21-6824, and amendments thereto.

Id. (emphasis added).

Although that statute refers to individual "case", rather than individual "offenders," it is impossible to have a criminal case sentencing without a defendant to be sentenced. The State places too fine a distinction on the reference to "characteristics" as

opposed to "cases." If sentencing in general is to be imposed with consideration for individual characteristics, would the law require that departure sentencing be imposed without such consideration? More to the point, defendant suggests that nothing in K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 21-6802 restricts the trial court's consideration of individual offender characteristics as suggested by the State. There is nothing in any of the departure statutes to suggest that they are to operate in a vacuum separate from the considerations that are to govern sentencing in general.

K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 21-6802(b) provides a sentencing court multiple factors to consider. In addition, the Kansas Supreme Court recognizes three legislative purposes of the guidelines: "(1) reduce prison overcrowding, (2) protect public safety, and (3) standardize sentences so similarly situated offenders are treated the same in order to reduce the effects of racial or geographic bias." *State v. Sampsel*, 268 Kan. 264, 997 P.2d 664 (2000) (quoting *State v. Favela*, 259 Kan. 215, 233-34, 911 P.2d 792, 805 (1996)).

Most recently the Supreme Court again held that "[r]easons which may in one case justify departure may not in all cases justify a departure." *State v. Bird*, _____ Kan. _____, 312 P.3d 1265, 1269 (2013); *State v. McKay*, 271 Kan. 725, 730, 26 P.3d 58 (2001) (quoting *State v. Grady*, 258 Kan. 72, 83, 900 P.2d 227 (1995)). While the language of the court is not as direct as the language in K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 21-6601, it is clearly an indication that during a court's deliberation of whether or not the argued factors are substantial and compelling, it is not bound to rigid and narrow interpretations in determining whether a departure is justified.

If the legislative intent were to remove all discretion in the circumstances that constitute the primary facts of this case, the legislature could amend the departure

limitations to reflect that goal. K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 21-6818(a) accomplishes this in regard to specific crimes:

(a) When a departure sentence is appropriate, the sentencing judge may depart from the sentencing guidelines as provided in this section. The sentencing judge shall not impose a downward dispositional departure sentence for any crime of extreme sexual violence, as defined in K.S.A. 21-6815, and amendments thereto. The sentencing judge shall not impose a downward durational departure sentence for any crime of extreme sexual violence, as defined in K.S.A. 21-6815, and amendments thereto, to less than 50% of the center of the range of the sentence for such crime.

Id. (emphasis added).

Absolute prohibition on downward dispositional departure for crimes of extreme sexual violence is codified; if the legislature desired to include such a prohibition for Involuntary Manslaughter while Driving Under the Influence of Alcohol, it clearly knows how to do so.

As the State notes, the departure statutes do include a list of <u>nonexclusive</u> mitigating factors, at K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 21-6815(c):

- (c)(1) Subject to the provisions of subsections (c)(3) and (e), the following nonexclusive list of mitigating factors may be considered in determining whether substantial and compelling reasons for a departure exist:
- (A) The victim was an aggressor or participant in the criminal conduct associated with the crime of conviction.
- (B) The offender played a minor or passive role in the crime or participated under circumstances of duress or compulsion. This factor may be considered when it is not sufficient as a complete defense.
- (C) The offender, because of physical or mental impairment, lacked substantial capacity for judgment when the offense was committed. The voluntary use of intoxicants, drugs or alcohol does not fall within the purview of this factor.
- (D) The defendant, or the defendant's children, suffered a continuing pattern of physical or sexual abuse by the victim of the offense and the offense is a response to that abuse.

(E) The degree of harm or loss attributed to the current crime of conviction was significantly less than typical for such an offense.

Id. (emphasis added).

Nowhere does section 21-6815 state that one or more of the listed factors must be used in a court's determination to grant a downward departure. This has been further demonstrated recently by the Kansas Supreme Court in *State v. Bird.* The Supreme Court upheld the decision of the trial court which had used two nonstatutory factors in its determination that there were substantial and compelling reasons to depart. "Finally, we conclude that when considered together, [defendant's] acceptance of responsibility and his lack of danger to the public provide substantial and compelling reasons to depart. Therefore, the district court did not abuse its discretion in departing." *Bird*, 312 P.3d 1271.

Therefore, a trial court does not err in using exclusively individual characteristics of the defendant to determine whether there are substantial and compelling reasons to depart. A sentencing court is charged with the duty to enforce the guidelines; inseparable from that duty is the obligation to weigh all factors and alternatives available to the court.

b. Factors Considered by the Trial Court

The State argues that the reasons for departure, even taken as a whole, were not substantial and compelling, but completely ignores the sentencing court's statements made immediately before the sentence was handed down: "I think the court can find that Mr. Theurer is not a threat to public safety, that he accepts his responsibility, and that it's doubtful he would present a threat to public safety in the future based on the LSI-R and the Pawnee report." R. III, 55: 14-18.

The court considered a number of factors during its deliberation, and made specific findings of judicially recognized factors as quoted above. These findings were made after an articulated enumeration of facts that caused the court to conclude that based on the totality of the circumstances, in the defendant's case, the record supported substantial and compelling reasons for departure. The trial court relied on multiple resources that were properly before the court. The court did not err in using those resources to develop its findings.

A trial court must consider a plethora of information in order to properly assess a motion to depart, pursuant to K.S.A 21-6815(d):

- (d) In determining aggravating or mitigating circumstances, the court shall consider:
- (1) Any evidence received during the proceeding;
- (2) the presentence report;
- (3) written briefs and oral arguments of either the state or counsel for the defendant; and
- (4) any other evidence relevant to such aggravating or mitigating circumstances that the court finds trustworthy and reliable.

The trial court can reasonably rely on a compilation of evidentiary facts to establish a valid nonstatutory factor supporting departure, especially when that factor is as substantial as a defendant not being a threat to the public. Furthermore, "[w]hen even one factor relied upon by the sentencing court is substantial and compelling, the departure sentence should be upheld." *Bird*, 312 P.3d 1269; *State v. Blackmon*, 285 Kan. 719, 725, 176 P.3d 160, 165 (2008). That policy, if nothing else, operates in favor of the sentence reached in this case, as is developed below.

Acceptance of Responsibility

The trial court identified that the defendant "accepts responsibility" as one of the factors for departure. (R. III, 55: 14-18). The court substantiated this factor by stating that the defendant "has expressed remorse;" "I think there is no doubt in anybody's mind that Mr. Theurer is remorseful;" and "[he] completed a 32-hour alcohol education program on his own." R. III, 51 - 52. A defendant's acceptance of responsibility is a factor, recognized by the Kansas Supreme Court, which can be a mitigating factor in support of a departure. *Bird*, 312 P.3d 1265. The Court in *Bird* stated that "acceptance of responsibility is consistent with the principles and purposes of the guidelines and can be an appropriate departure factor." *Id.* at 1269. There is substantial competent evidence of record to show that the defendant accepted responsibility for his crimes, including his statement to the court at sentencing, R. III, 37-40, and his no contest plea, R. I, 80.

Criminal History

It is well established that in most cases a defendant's criminal history cannot be used as justification for a departure sentence when the sentencing guidelines have already taken the defendant's criminal history into account in determining the presumptive sentence within the grid. *State v. Richardson*, 20 Kan.App.2d 932, 941, 901 P.2d 1, 7-8 (1995). However, the court in Richardson did affirm that a "sentencing court remains free to consider factors that a defendant's criminal history does not take into account." *Id.* The Court of Appeals held that the time between Richardson's last felony conviction and the instant conviction was not taken into account on the sentencing grid and therefore the trial court could consider it a factor in sentencing. *Id.*, at 942, 8.

K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 21-6809 describes the criminal history for category "I":

The offender's criminal history includes no prior record; or, one adult conviction or juvenile adjudication for a person, nonperson, or select misdemeanor, but no adult conviction or juvenile adjudication for either a person or nonperson felony.

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